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This book was prepared by EY Thailand
and EY Myanmar. It was written to give
the busy executive a quick overview of the
investment in Myanmar mainly covering
taxation, investment incentives, forms of
business, accounting practice and recent
tax and regulatory updates.

Making decisions about foreign
operations is complex and requires an
intimate knowledge of a country's
commercial climate, with a realisation
that the climate can change overnight.
Companies doing business in Myanmar, or
planning to do so, are advised to obtain
current and detailed information from
experienced professionals. This book
reflects information current at 30 June 2020.







A.Overview of
foreign
investment

A.l Forms of business

In Myanmar, foreign investors may typically carry on businesses in
the form of limited liability companies (subsidiaries), joint ventures,
overseas cooperation (i.e. branches and representative offices). The
subsidiaries and joint ventures are considered as resident enterprises,
while overseas cooperation is considered as non-resident enterprises.

The new Myanmar Companies Law (MCL) governing the companies
incorporated in Myanmar has been in effect since 1 August 2018.
Under the MCL, the companies are no longer required to renew the
license every 5 years from incorporation date.

Under the MCL, any foreign company which carries on business in
Myanmar for more than 30 days are required to register with the
Directorate of Investment and Company Administration (DICA).
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Limited liability company

A limited liability company can be majority owned by foreigners. A
limited liability company having foreign individual(s) and/or foreign
entity(ies) owns or controls, directly or indirectly, the ownership
interest of more than 35%, will be defined as a foreign company
under the MCL.

The 2 typical types of limited company in Myanmar are the private
limited liability company and the public limited liability company. The
private limited liability company is the most common form used by the
foreign investors for setting up a foreign entity in Myanmar. It is allowed
to have a single shareholder, but no greater than 50 shareholders and
is required to have at least 1 director who is a Myanmar resident (i.e.,
residing in Myanmar for more than 183 days in a 12-month period).

From 1 August 2018, all companies must be set up under the MCL.
If the company's business activity is qualified under the promoted
sectors announced by the Myanmar Investment Commission (MIC),
the company can separately apply for the incentives with the MIC and
may be granted with the MIC permit. A MIC permit is required for the
following businesses:

(a) investment businesses that are essential to the Union strategy;

(b) large capital intensive investment projects (i.e., investment amount
is expected to exceed USD 100 million);

(c) projects which are likely to cause a large impact on the environment
and the local community;

(d) investment businesses which use state-owned land and building;

(e) investment businesses which are designated by the government to
require the submission of a proposal to the Commission
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Businesses considered as an investment activity that is essential to the
National strategy include, but not limited to:

(@) investment exceeding USD 20 million in any business in the area
of communication and information technology, pharmaceutical
technology, biotechnology, similar technologies, energy, infrastructure
and urban development, extraction of natural resources and media;

(b) investment exceeding USD 20 million, under the grant for the land
use right or use of other property, agreement on such concession or
similar authorization by government department and government
organization;

(c) cross-border investment by the foreign investor or investment
exceeding USD 1 million by Myanmar citizen investor;

(d) investment in agriculture on more than 1000 acres of land;

(@) investment to carry out other business except agriculture on more
than 100 acres of land.

For investment activities that do not fall under the above businesses
which require MIC permit, such businesses are required to submit an
endorsement application to MIC in order to enjoy the right to use land
for long-term and other tax incentives. Similarly, if the company is
located in the Myanmar Special Economic Zone (SEZ), the company can
separately apply for the incentives made available under the Special
Economic Zone Law (SEZL) and may be granted with the SEZL permit.

Joint venture

A joint venture can be set up between foreign investor and Myanmar
partner (e.q., individuals, private limited liability companies and
state- owned enterprises), where a local partner or Myanmar citizen
must invest minimum 20% of share equities, as a private limited
liability company.
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Currently, there are more than 22 types of activities that foreigners can
carry out by way of a joint venture with Myanmar citizens, for example,
development, sale and lease of residential apartment and condominium,
manufacturing and domestic distribution of certain types of food and
beverages, chemical substances and plastic products.

Branch office

Foreign corporations can establish a branch office to conduct their
business in Myanmar. The branch office will be regarded as the same
entity as its overseas head office.

Representative office

Representative offices are mainly set up for the purpose of acting as a
liaison office supporting the head office overseas and can act as a cost
centre but cannot generate income.

A.2  Foreign ownership restrictions
Myanmar Investment Law

Although the Myanmar government encourages foreign investment
and allows 100% foreign-equity companies to carry on business in its
jurisdiction, there are prohibitions and restrictions on certain types of
business imposed by the Myanmar Investment Law (MIL) and by-laws.

The MIC stipulates 4 categories of prohibited and restricted businesses
under separate notification as follows: -

List 1: Investment activities allowed to be carried out only by the
Union

List 2: Investment activities that are not allowed to be carried out by
foreign investors

List 3: Investment activities allowed only in the form of a joint venture
with any citizen owned entity or any Myanmar citizen
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List 4: Investment activities to be carried out with the approval of the
relevant ministries

The types of business specified under such notification may be amended
from time to time subject to the MIC's consideration and discretion
whereby corresponding notification will subsequently be issued.

Businesses outside these categories can be carried out with 100%
foreign investment, provided they are in compliance with the specific
laws relating to the particular business (if any).

Government-owned industries and privatisation

Even though Myanmar has opened its markets to both citizens and
foreigners, certain industries are conducted by state enterprises
pursuant to the State-owned Economic Enterprise Law (1989). State
monopolies include economic activities relevant to teak, timber,
forests, petroleum and natural gas, mineral resources, fisheries, post
and telecommunications, air and railway transportation, banking and
insurance services, broadcasting and television services, metals, the
electricity industry and manufacturing of products relating to security
and defense.

Since 2012, some of these sectors are in the process of being privatised
and opened to not only citizens but also foreign investors. For example,
until June 2020, the Central Bank of Myanmar (CBM) has granted
the licenses to 20 foreign banks (including 7 foreign banks which
have been granted preliminary approval from CBM in April 2020) to
promote services through its branches/subsidiaries in Myanmar and 53
representative offices of foreign banks and finance companies. In
telecommunication sector, so far, the Ministry of Transport and
Communication awarded the license to 3 telecommunication operators
(i.e., Telenor, Ooredoo and Telecom International Myanmar Company
Limited) to operate network in Myanmar, as a result, Myanmar currently
has 4 existing telecommunication players, including Myanmar Posts and
elecommunications.
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A.3  Land ownership restrictions

Foreigners and foreign-owned company are prohibited to own land in
Myanmar, though the lease of immovable property for a term of not
exceeding 1 year is allowed.

The longer lease period can be obtained through the investment incentives
under the MIL and SEZL which will be discussed under A.4 below.

A.4 Investment incentives

Currently, Myanmar has the MIL and the SEZL, which allow foreign
investors to conduct business in Myanmar in various business sectors
with or without local partners. These laws also grant tax incentives as
well as non-tax incentives such as land use rights and guarantees that
foreign investments will not be nationalized.

However, some businesses will continue to be controlled by the
government to protect public welfare or local operators and foreign
participation is allowed only in the form of a joint venture with
Myanmar citizens, under specific requirements.

The government encourages both domestic and foreign investment by
offering incentives through the MIL and the SEZL. Small-and-medium
sized enterprises are an area of business that the government willingly
promotes. Foreign exchange controls now facilitate foreign investment
and transactions can be conducted through stated-owned banks and
private banks, including branches of foreign banks.

As a newly opening market, Myanmar welcomes investors to utilize its
resources for the purpose of such investment, since it is expected that
through foreign investment, locals can be trained as skilled workers or
technicians, especially in industries such as the energy sector, agro-based
sector, aquaculture & fisheries, urbanization, extractive sector, forestry
based sector telecommunication, infrastructure, manufacturing and
hotel and tourism.
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1.) Incentives under the MIL

In October 2016, Myanmar issued the MIL, combining and replacing
both the Foreign Investment Law (FIL) and the Myanmar Citizens
Investment Law (MCIL). The MIL further improves on the previous
laws and covers both foreign and local investments.

At the beginning of 2017, the Myanmar Investment Rules (MIR) was also
announced to provide further guidance and detail the scope of foreign
investment. Moreover, a few notifications were issued pursuant to the
MIL clarifying the designation of development zone, investment capital
requirement for issuance of the endorsement order, classification of
promoted sector and list of restricted investment activities.

The MIC is a government agency established under the MIL and its
duties covers all foreign investment projects e.g., assessing investment
proposals, clarifying terms and conditions of foreign investment as well
as granting tax incentives under the endorsement application or the
MIC proposal.

Tax incentives

The MIL provides the following tax incentives for foreign entities
engaging in the promoted sectors in Myanmar: -

» Exemption from corporate income tax for the period of 3 to 7
consecutive years, including the year of business commencement,
depending on the region where the investment is located: -

» Zone 1 (Less developed region): 7 consecutive years
» Zone 2 (Moderate developed region): 5 consecutive years

» Zone 3 (Adequate developed region): 3 consecutive years
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> Exemptions or reliefs from customs duty and commercial tax on: -

» Imported machineries, machinery components, equipment,
instruments, spare parts, construction materials that are locally
unavailable, but required during the construction period or the
preparatory period of the investment business as well as the
extended period if the business is expanded and the investment
volume is increased with the MIC approval

» Imported raw materials and semi-finished goods conducted by
an export-oriented investment business for the purposes of the
manufacture of products for export

» Reimbursement of customs duty and commercial tax on
imported raw materials and semi-finished goods which are used
to manufacture products for export

» Exemption or relief from corporate income tax on profit reinvested
in the business that obtained the MIC permit/endorsement or in any
similar business within 1 year

> Accelerated depreciation allowance in respect of machinery,
equipment, building or other capital assets

» Deduction for expenses incurred in respect of research and
development of the business carried out in Myanmar

Guarantees

The MIL offers conditional guarantees against nationalization,
arbitrary project termination and restrictions on the repatriation of
foreign-sourced capital invested.
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Land lease

Investors are entitled to lease land for up to 50 years, depending on the
category of the business, industry and the volume of investment. The
leases may be extended for 2 further consecutive 10-year periods with
the approval of the MIC. If the land is situated in a less developed and
remote region, the approval for the extension from both the MIC and
parliament will be required.

Employment

The MIL allows foreign investors to employ a foreign employee or
Myanmar citizen for positions in senior management or that require
technical and operational expertise. The works which do not require
skill must be appointed to a Myanmar citizen only. In addition, the
investor is required to provide appropriate capacity building programs
to the citizen employees so that they can be in the higher/different level
of positions.

2.) Incentives under the SEZL

Special incentives under the SEZL are currently available to companies
located in industrial estates run by the Republic of the Union of Myanmar.
Currently, there are 3 SEZs in Myanmar, namely: -

» Dawei SEZ: located in the southern part of the country in the
Tanintharyi Region

» KyaukPhyu SEZ: located in the western part of the country in the
Rakhine State

» Thilawa SEZ: located approximately 20 kilometers southeast
of Yangon, covering about 2,400 hectares of land, offers the
following special tax incentives to investors: -

» 5-year corporate income tax exemption in the promoted zone

» 7-year corporate income tax exemption in the free zone
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50% corporate income tax reduction for 5 years after expiry of
the tax exemption period

50% corporate income tax reduction on profits re-invested
within 1 year for 5 years after the end of the 50% corporate
income tax reduction period

Import duty exemption on raw materials, machinery and
equipment in the free zone

Import duty exemption on machinery and equipment for
constructionin the free zone

5-year import duty exemption on machinery and equipment
imported for construction in the promoted zone, followed by
50% reduction for another 5 years

Commercial tax exemption on products manufactured for
export

Permission to carry forward losses for 5 years

Other incentives made available by the SEZL include work permits and
the rights to use land or lease land for up to 50 years upon payment
of the land lease fee or land use fee. If the investor wishes to continue
their business after the expiry of the term, these terms may be extended
for up to 25 years.
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B.1  Corporate income tax

At a glance

Corporate income tax
Capital gains tax
Branch tax
Withholding tax
Dividends / Profit remittance

Interest

Royalties from patents, know-how

Payment for cross-border service fee

Rate (%)
25
10
25

0
15 @) (b
0 (@@
15 @) ()
10 ()
2.5 (a) (b)
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Rate (%)
Payments for local purchase of goods and 0@
services 2@
Notes: -

(@) Applicable to payments to non-resident companies
(b) Withholding tax may be reduced or exempt under tax treaties.
(c) Applicable to payments to resident citizens or resident foreigners.

(d) Applicable to payments made by government organization to
resident citizens or resident foreigner and the amount of which
exceeds MMK 1 million in any financial year.

(e) Applicable to payments to foreign branches in Myanmar
Scope of corporate income tax
The standard corporate income tax rate is 25%.

All companies incorporated in Myanmar are subject to corporate income
tax on their worldwide income, while branches of foreign companies
and foreign companies having a permanent establishment in Myanmar
are taxed only on their Myanmar-sourced income.

The annual corporate income tax must be paid quarterly based on
annual estimated profit and can be creditable against the final tax in
the end of fiscal year.

The quarterly payment is required to be paid within 10 days after the
end of each quarter.
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Advanced corporate income tax

Goods exported from or imported into Myanmar are subject to 2%
advance corporate income tax on the assessable value of the goods.
This advance corporate income tax is required to pay at the time of
importation or exportation and can be credited against the taxpayer’s
year-end corporate income tax liability.

From 1 May 2019, the companies under the Large Taxpayer Office
(LTO) and Medium Taxpayer Office 1 (MTO1) exporting the goods
which were previously exempt from the advance corporate income tax
in 2018 will be subject to the 2% advance corporate income tax. Under
the COVID-19 Economic Relief Plan, 2% withholding tax on exports
within the period from 1 April 2020 to 30 September 2020 are waived.

Capital gains or losses

Capital gains, from the sale, exchange or transfer of a corporation’s
capital assets, are assessed separately from business income and are
subject to a flat tax rate of 10% for both Myanmar resident companies
and non-Myanmar resident companies.

Capital gains from the sale, exchange or transfer of capital assets of
companies engaged in Myanmar oil and gas exploration, extraction and
production sector are subject to the progressive tax rates ranging from
40% to 50%.

Capital gains tax filing and payment must be made within 30 days
from the date of sale, exchange or transfer by any other means of
capital asset.

Capital losses cannot be treated as deductible expenses for corporate
income tax purposes. Moreover, losses from the disposal of other
capital assets cannot be used to offset capital gains or other taxable
income.
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Withholding taxes

Taxes withheld shall be credited to the account of the relevant Township
Revenue Office (or) Medium Taxpayers Office (or) Larger Taxpayers Office
within 15 days from the date of deduction (prior to 1 October 2019, within
7 days from the date of deduction)

Assessable income

To determine taxable income, profits recorded and substantiated in a
company's books of account in accordance with the Myanmar Financial
Reporting Standard are adjusted in accordance with Myanmar Income
Tax Law, subject to final assessment by the authorities.

Deductible expenses

In general, expenses are deductible for tax purposes when such expenses
areincurred wholly and exclusively for the purpose of generating income.

Donations

Donations to approved religious or charitable institutions or funds
sponsored by a state organization or recognized by the Ministry of
Planning, Finance and Industry are deductible up to those 25% of total
taxable income before deduction of donations.

Royalties, management fees and technical service fees

Royalties, management and technical service fees are deductible if
they are supported by a relevant invoice, evidence of bank payment
transfer and relevant tax documents and they are commensurate with
the volume of business.

Interest expenses

Interest on onshore loans is deductible up to the interest rate limit set
by the CBM. Interest on offshore loans is deductible provided that the
loans are approved by the MIC and the CBM.
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Depreciation and amortisation allowance

The following table sets forth the annual depreciation rates for depreciable
assets. Depreciation in excess of the prescribed rate as per the table below
is not deductible.

Type of assets Annual depreciation rate (%)
Building 1.25t0 10
Furniture and fixtures 5to 10
Machinery and plant 5to 10
Machinery equipment 2.5t0 20
Waterway transport vehicle 5to 10
Road transport vehicle 12.5t0 20
Other concerned work general 5to 20
(e.q., digital calculator, loudspeaker,
camera)
Other miscellaneous 10to 20

Capital assets not specifically stated
under the prescribed schedule

Disallowed expenses

The key non-deductible expenses for corporate income tax purposes
are as follows: -

» Capital expenditures

» Personal expenditures

» Expenses not commensurate with the volume of business

» Expensesincurred not for the purpose of earning the income
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» Payments made to any member of an association of persons by
such association of person other than a company or a cooperative
society and inappropriate expenditure

> Provisional expenses and reserves, such as provisions for bad debts
or stock obsolescence are not tax-deductible until they are actually
incurred

» Unrealised exchange losses on investments before operating the
business and on the translating monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency.

Foreign tax relief

Myanmar domestic tax law does not allow a foreign tax credit. However,
under the tax treaties, a foreign tax credit is allowed on the lower of
the foreign tax paid and the amount of Myanmar tax calculated on the
foreign-sourced income.

Foreign tax relief

Myanmar domestic tax law does not allow a foreign tax credit. However,
under the tax treaties, a foreign tax credit is allowed on the lower of
the foreign tax paid and the amount of Myanmar tax calculated on the
foreign-sourced income.

Tax loss carried forward

Tax losses can be carried forward and offset against profits in the
following 3 consecutive years. The carryback of losses is not allowed.

Tax consolidation concept

There is no tax consolidation concept. Tax losses of one company
cannot be used to offset against the taxable profits of another affiliate.
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Related-party transactions

Payments made to related-parties may be treated as tax deductible
expenses if they are commensurate with the volume of business and
the rate is at market price.

Transfer pricing
There are currently no formal transfer pricing regulations in Myanmar.
Statute of Limitations

Prior to 1 October 2019, the statute of limitation period is 3 years after
the end of the relevant assessment year.

Effective on 1 October 2019, the statute of limitation lasts 6 years.
However, for cases of fraudulent or incomplete information, the
statutory limitation period is 12 years. The following statutes of
limitation are applicable during the transitional period.

» 3 years after the end of the assessment year for FY2019;

> 4 years after the end of the assessment year for FY2020;

» 5years after the end of the assessment year for FY2021; and

» 6 years after the end of the assessment year for FY2022.

Tax compliance and administration

The tax and accounting periods follow the fiscal year and may not
exceed 12 months. Commencing from 1 October 2019, all Myanmar
entities are required to adopt the new Myanmar fiscal year which is
from 1 October to 30 September. Nevertheless, the state-owned banks,

private banks and the branches of foreign bank have adopted the new
Myanmar fiscal year since 1 October 2018.

Companies, branch offices and representative offices are required to file
corporate income tax returns, together with audited financial statements
within 3 months after the end of the fiscal year (i.e., 31 December).
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Companies under Self-Assessment System (SAS) are required to
submit the tax return together with the detailed attachment. The
audited financial statements will only be required as and when
requested by the MIRD.

Companies under Official Assessment System (OAS) are allowed
to submit the draft financial statements (signed by the authorised
director) with the tax return, while audited financial statements
can be submitted later. The audited financial statements must be
submitted to the MIRD within the date specified in the Call Letter
circulated to taxpayers, usually 1-2 months from the date of filing
the annual income tax return.

Penalties

Penalties for late payment of corporate income tax and withholding
tax is 10% on tax due

Tax treaties

Myanmar has concluded double tax treaties with the following 8
countries. The tax treaties signed with Bangladesh and Indonesia have
yet to be ratified.

India Singapore United Kingdom
Lao PDR South Korea Vietnam
Malaysia Thailand
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B.2 Personal income tax
Who is liable?

Tax is imposed based on residency status. Myanmar citizens and
tax resident foreigners are subject to personal income tax on
their worldwide income. Non-resident foreigners are subject to
tax on their Myanmar-sourced income only. The salary income of
non-resident citizen in foreign currency earned in abroad will not be subject
to tax in Myanmar.

Foreigners are considered to be resident foreigners for Myanmar tax
purposes if they reside in Myanmar for a period or periods aggregating
183 days or more during a tax year.

Assessable income

Taxable income is assessable income less deductible expenses and
allowances. The taxation of various types of income is described below.

» Employmentincome

Assessable employment income include salary, wages, annual fees,
bonus, award and any fees or commissions received instead of orin
addition to the salary or wages.

Nevertheless, any person earning salary income of MMK 4.8 million
or less per year will not be subject to personal income tax.

» Self-employment and business income

Taxable self-employment and business income consist of
assessable income less deductible expenses and allowances.
In general, all types of income are assessable unless expressly
exempt by law. For this purpose, business includes trading,
commercial, manufacturing, service, trading securities as an
economic business.
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» Capital gains

Gains derived from the sale, exchange or transfer of capital
assets (e.g., land, buildings and the rooms therein, vehicles, any
assets provided as a contribution to an enterprise, shares, bonds,
securities and similar instruments) are generally subject to capital
gains tax.

Income which has escaped assessment

Income which has escaped assessment for purchase of capital
assets, new business set up and expansion of business should be
taxed at progressive rates 3% to 30% without any personal reliefs.
(Note: The above rates are effective only for 1 October 2019 to
30 September 2020.) For other cases, it should be taxed at 30%
without any personal reliefs

Tax-exempt benefits
Tax-exempt benefits include the following: -

» Claims under insurance policies (e.g., medical policies)

» Income of any religious or charitable organisation used exclusively
for matters of religion or charity

» Income of a local official

> Pension, a sum received in commutation of a pension and gratuity

» Compensation recovered for a death or injury

> Income of a casual, non-recurring nature, excluding capital gains
and income from an enterprise

» Dividends from an association of persons after payment of income-tax

> Salary income received by the employees (except Myanmar nationals)
engaged under the projects of Grant Aid and Concessional Loan, subject
to approval from MIRD
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» Total value of reward or rewards received during the income year
under the program of awarding rewards according to the provisions
of the Abuse of Narcotic and Mentally Deranged Drugs Law

» Total amount of reward or rewards received during the income year
under the program of awarding rewards on the arrest and seizure
of un-lawful goods

» Cash allowances conferred by the State accompanying titles and
medals

» Non-resident citizen’s salary income in foreign currency earned in
abroad

» Money received from winning government Aung Bar Lay lottery

» Honorable card reward by the State on the observation of antiques
Allowance

» Basic allowance

An annual standard allowance of 20% is provided for each type
of income, but the total relief for a year may not exceed MMK 10
million.

» Spouse allowance
A taxpayer may deduct relief in the amount of MMK 1 million per
year for a spouse who does not earn any income.

» Children allowance

A taxpayer may deduct annual relief of MMK 0.5 million per child
for children at the age of 18 or less who do not earn any income
and for children older than 18 who are students with no income
and single.
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> Parents allowance
A taxpayer may deduct annual relief of MMK 1 million per parent
and parent in law who live with the taxpayer.

Deductible expenses

Payments for the following items are deductible for personal income
tax calculation purposes: -

> Life insurance premiums of a taxpayer and his or her spouse

>  Contributions to a social security fund

> Donations to prescribed religious or charitable organizations
(capped at 25% of the taxable income)

Rates

The following table provides a summary of the tax rates applicable to
individuals in Myanmar.

Residency Income tax Tvpe of Income Income tax
status base yp rate (%)
Resident Myanmar- Salaries, professions
citizen sourced income and business Oto25
(see Note 1)
Worldwide Capital gains, rental 10
income income earned on (see Note 2)

lease of land, building
and apartment

Resident Worldwide Salaries, professions Oto 25
foreigner income and business (see Note 1)
Capital gains 10

(see Note 2)
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Non- Worldwide Income earned abroad 10
resident income except salary
citizen . .
Capital gains 10
Non- Myanmar- Salaries Oto 25
resident sourced income (see Note 1)
foreigner
Capital gains 10
Income earned except
salary and capital 25
gains

Notes: -

(1) The progressive tax rates are presented below.

2,000,000 or less 0
2,000,001 to 5,000,000 5
5,000,001 to 10,000,000 10
10,000,001 to 20,000,000 15
20,000,001 to 30,000,000 20
30,000,0001 or more 25
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(2) Rental income earned from the lease of land, building and
apartment by an individual will be subject to income tax. The
10% capital gain tax is levied on the sale, exchange or transfer of
capital assets of a company which is not engaged in Myanmar oil
and gas exploration, extraction and production sector. Capital gains
from the sale, exchange or transfer of capital assets of a company
participating in Myanmar oil and gas exploration, extraction and
production sector are subject to the progressive tax rates ranging
from 40% to 50%.

For income which has escaped the assessment, the progressive tax
rates are presented below (effective only for 1 October 2019 to 30
September 2020).

Income which has escaped assessment Tax rate (%)
1to 100,000,000 3
100,000,001 to 300,000,000 5
300,000,001 to 1,000,000,000 10
1,000,000,001 to 3,000,000,000 15
3,000,000,001 and above 30

Tax filing and payment procedures

Personal income tax is withheld by employers. Starting from 1
October 2019, the employers are required to submit the monthly
payroll withholding tax return and pay tax within 15 days (previously
within 7 days) from the date of deduction.

Employers are required to submit annual salary statements together
with income tax returns of employees within 3 months after the end of
the tax years

Penalties

Penalties for late payment of CT is 10% on tax due.
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B.3 Commercial tax

Generally, commercial tax (CT) at a rate of 5% is imposed on goods
sold in Myanmar, provision of services, manufacturing business,
trading activities and importation of goods into Myanmar. The tax
base is the gross sales, service income and landed cost. Certain
activities (i.e., buildings developed and sold in Myanmar) will be
subject to CT at the rate of 3%, while the sales and importation of
golden jewelries will be subject to 1% CT. Export sales of crude oil
and electricity are subject to the CT at 5% and 8%, respectively.
Under the Union Taxation Law 2019, certain types of service and
goods are exempt from CT.

Since 1 April 2014, manufacturers, service providers and traders may
offset the CT already paid in connection with its related business. It is
widely seen as the first step to introduce a full credit system similar to
Value added tax or Goods and services tax system in Myanmar. Starting
from 1 October 2019 any input CT incurred on the capital assets will be
allowed to offset with output CT payable.

Business operators carrying on activities that are subject to CT
(except for the importation activities) are required to register for
CT, regardless of their size of revenue. All CT registered companies
are required to collect and pay CT monthly, submit the CT returns
guarterly and annually.

B.4 Customs duties

Customs duty is levied on imported goods at rates ranging from 0%
to 40%. A company registered under the MIL and SEZ will be eligible
for exemption or relief from customs duty on imported machinery,
equipment, materials that are used during the construction period or
the preparation period of the business and on raw materials imported
used to manufacture products for export.
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B.5 Other taxes
Special commodities tax

Being enforced since 1 April 2016, the specific goods tax is applicable
on an importation and/or manufacture of specific types of goods and
on exported goods (e.g., natural gas and log) at rates ranging from 5%
to 80%.

Property tax

Property tax applies only to immovable properties (land and buildings)
situated in all regions in Myanmar. The property tax includes a general
tax, lighting tax, water tax and conservancy tax and the actual rates are
determined by the relevant city development committee.

Stamp duty

Stamp duty must be paid on certain instruments, including, service
agreements, loan agreements, lease agreements and share transfer
forms. The rates of stamp duty vary depending on the types of
instrument.

Gemstone tax

Raw gems, polished gems, jewelry and other products made with gems
are subject to a separate gemstones tax ranging from 5% to 11%. As
such, specific goods tax and commercial tax are no longer applicable
to gemstones.

64



C. Financial
reporting

and audit

Method of accounting

Companies generally use the accrual accounting method for preparing
financial statements.

Accounting principles

Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), in principle, follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) but there are some
differences as MFRS has yet to adopt the IFRS.

From the fiscal year starting from 1 October 2022, the IFRS and
the International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and
Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) are required to be adopted.
Public Interest Entities (PIEs) including financial institutions,
public companies and their major subsidiaries, joint ventures with
Myanmar are required to comply with the IFRSs. Non-PIEs must
comply with the IFRS for SMEs or may choose to adopt the IFRS.
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Disclosure requirements

Statutory financial statements are required to be prepared in either
Burmese or English. Basic financial statements include a statement
of financial position (balance sheet), a statement of comprehensive
income, a statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, a statement of
cash flows and notes to financial statements.

Audit requirements

All companies, branches of foreign corporations and representative
offices doing business in Myanmar must have their financial statements
audited by certified public accountant whose is issued license by the
Myanmar Accountancy Council (MAC). However, the auditing is not
required for the small company under the MCL.

Filing requirements

Business entity must have its audited financial statements
approved by an annual general shareholders’ meeting. Audited
financial statements are not required to submit together with tax
return by 31 December. However, the MIRD may request audited
financial statements at the time of tax audit for the taxpayers
assessed under SAS. For the taxpayers assessed under OAS, audited
financial statements shall be submitted to the MIRD for the final tax
assessment of the relevant financial year.

Books and records keeping

All business entities must maintain books of account that accurately
reflect their transactions, assets and liabilities. These books of account
can be prepared in either Burmese or English and must be retained for
accounting and tax inspection for 3 years to 7 years.
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Professional associations

Accounting standards in Myanmar are formulated by the MAC of the
Union Auditor General of the Republic of the Union of Myanmar. In
addition, the Myanmar Institute of Certified Public Accountants is an
advisory body with respect to the accounting standards to the MAC.
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D.1 Social security contributions

Employers and employees must each contribute to the Social
Security Fund. The rates, which are applied to employee income,
are 2% for employees and 3% for employers, with a maximum
monthly contribution of MMK 6,000 for employees and MMK 9,000
for employers. These contributions finance benefits for pregnancy,
accidents, illness, child welfare, old age, death and physical disability
occurring outside working hours.

Company having 5 or more employees are required to register for the
social security scheme with the Social Security Board under the Ministry
of Labor, Immigration and Population.
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D.2 Entry visas

To enter Myanmar, all visitors must have a valid passport and an entry
visa. Visitors may apply for single or multiple entry visas. Among
others, Thai citizens are allowed visa-free visits to Myanmar by air
travelling for up to 14 days.

A tourist visa allows a stay of 28 days, while an extension is not
allowed. A business visa allows a stay of 10 weeks (70 days),
which may be extended up to 12 months on a case-by-case basis.
The passport holders from the permitted countries (currently 55
countries, including Thailand) are allowed to apply for the visa on
arrival (i.e., business visa, transit visa, workshop/seminar/meeting/
research visa and crew visa) at the Myanmar airports. A tourist
visa on arrival may be granted based on a prior arrangement
with the Ministry of Labour, Immigration and Population through
the Ministry of Hotels and Tourism. Infants and children require a
separate visa even if traveling on a parent’s passport.

Individuals may apply for the different types of visa at Myanmar
embassies or consulates in overseas, e-visa websites and a point of
entry.

D.3  Work permits
Work permits

Myanmar has introduced work and stay permit system for foreign
personnel employed under the MIL or SEZL. Expatriate employees
working under the company incorporated under the MCL can apply
for a stay permit based on an employment contract with the employer.
The stay permit has a duration of 3 months to 1 year.
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However, given that the Investment Permit or the Company Extract
(a certified document issued by the DICA) is one of the supporting
documents required to apply for a stay permit for business executive
and employee, in practice, expatriates working in Myanmar before
the issuance of such permits need a business visa, which will allow the
visa holder to stay in Myanmar for up to 10 weeks.

Residence permits

Relatives of a Myanmar citizen permanently residing in Myanmar (i.e.,
spouse, children and parents) may apply for a permanent residence
permit if they are residing in Myanmar.

Even though the duration of permanent residence is unlimited,
permanent residence cards are to be renewed every 5 years.
Holders of a permanent residence card do not require a visa (except in
the event of staying abroad for more than 24 consecutive months) to
enter Myanmar.

Applications for a permanent residence permit are to be submitted to
the Immigration Department of the city in which the foreigner resides.
The application process is usually completed within 6 months. After
confirmation, the Immigration Department issues the permanent
residence card within 5 working days.
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List of government
agencies in
Myanmar

and contact details

Government agency Contact details
Ministry of Foreign Affairs Bldg. (9), Nay Pyi Taw
and The Office of the State Tel: +95 067 412344
Counsellor Website: www.mofa.gov.mm
Ministry of Information Bldg. (7), Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: 495067 412020, 412327
Website: www.moi.gov.mm

Ministry of Transport and Bldg. (2/5/29), Nay Pyi Taw
Communications Tel: +95 067 411033, 405034,
405035, 407350
Website: www.motc.gov.mm

Ministry of Labour, Bldg. (51), Nay Pyi Taw
Immigration and Population Tel: 495 067 430079, 430184
Website: www.mol.gov.mm
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Government agency

Ministry of Electricity and

Energy

Ministry of Industry

Ministry of Commerce

Ministry of Planning and
Finance and Industry

Ministry of Construction

Ministry of Hotels and
Tourism

Contact details

Bldg. (27), Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 3410487,3410483
Website: www.moee.gov.mm

Bldg. (30), Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 405320, 405325
Website: www.industry.gov.mm

Bldg. (3), Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 408265, 408485
Website: www.commerce.gov.mm

Bldg. (1,26), Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: +95 067 3407013, 3410046
Website: www.mopfi.gov.mm
Bldg. (30), Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: +95 067 405320, 405325
Website: www.industry.gov.mm

Bldg. (11), Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: +95 094 9201878, 098
601906

Website: www.construction.gov.mm

Bldg. (33), Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: +95 067 3406485, 3406247,
3406129

Website: www.myanmartourism.org

Directorate of Investment
and Company Administration,
Secretarial office for
Myanmar Investment
Commission and Ministry

of Investment and Foreign
Economic Relations

No. 1, Thitsar Road, Yankin
Township, Yangon

Tel: +95 01 658103
Website: www.dica.gov.mm
www.myco.dica.gov.mm
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Government agency

Ministry of Resources and
Environmental Conservation

Doing Business in Myanmar 2020/2021

Contact details

Office 28, Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 405074, 405076
Website: www.monrec.gov.mm

Ministry of Health and Sports

Office No. 4, Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 3431071
www.mohs.gov.mm

Ministry of International
Cooperation

Bldg. (9), Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 412344

Ministry of Social Welfare,
Relief and Resettlement

Office No. 23, Nay Pyi Taw
Tel: +95 067 404050, 404113
www.rrdmyanmar.gov.mm

Ministry of Agriculture,
Livestock and Irriga-tion

Office No. 3g, Nay Pyi Taw

Tel: +95 067 410004, 408434,
408212

Website: www.moali.gov.mm

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Management commit-tee

Room No. 100, Ground Floor,
Administration Complex,
Dagon-Thilawa Road, Kyauktan
Township, Yangon

Tel: +95 01 2309082, 2309083
Website: www.myanmarthilawa.
gov.mm

73



CBM
CT
DICA

FIL
IFRS
IFRS for SMEs

LTO
MAC
MCA
MCL
MCIL
MFRS
MIC
MIL
MIR
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Central Bank of Myanmar
Commercial Tax

Directorate of Investment and Company
Administration

Foreign Investment Law
International Financial Reporting Standards

International Financial Reporting Standards for
Small and Medium-sized Entities

Large Taxpayer Office

Myanmar Accountancy Council
Myanmar Companies Act

Myanmar Companies Law

Myanmar Citizens Investment Law
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards
Myanmar Investment Commission
Myanmar Investment Law

Myanmar Investment Rules
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MIRD Myanmar Internal Revenue Department
MMK Myanmar Kyat

MTO Medium Taxpayer Office

OAS Official Assessment System

PIEs Public Interest Entities

SAS Self-Assessment System

SEZ Special Economic Zone

SEZL Special Economic Zone Law
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August

Electronic payments available to Internal Revenue

2020 Department
> Additional electronic channels to facilitate tax payment
(e.qg., internet and mobile banking) are made available
May Update on income tax and commercial tax regulations
2020

» Amendment of commercial tax regulations to allow
input commercial tax incurred on capital assets be
offset against output commercial tax due on business

activities
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January Revised criteria to obtain foreign loan

2020
The Central Bank of Myanmar issued the revised criteria

to grant an approval to companies requesting to obtain
an offshore loan. Amongst others, MIC-permitted
companies must have equity of at least USD 500,000
and a maximum debt to equity ratio of 4:1. While
DICA-permitted companies must have equity of at least
USD 50,000 and a maximum debt to equity ratio of 3:1

October Amendment of the Tax Administration Law

2019
Effective from 1 October 2019, major amendments

include, but not limited to: -

» The tax assessment period has been extended to 6
years (previously 1 year) after the end of the relevant
assessment year or 12 years in case of fraudulent

» A taxpayer can request for a refund or offset on an
overpaid tax within 6 years from the relevant
assessment year

» The anti-avoidance provision has empowered
Myanmar tax officials to challenge on any aggressive
tax positions and deny transactions that they deem
fraudulent and lack of economic substance

» A taxpayer is required to maintain records (e.q.,
agreements, financial statements, invoices, sales and
purchase invoices) for 7 years from a transaction date

» The MIRD may issue public rulings to ensure
consistent tax administration and serve as a
guidance on complex tax issue. Upon request,
the MIRD may issue a legally-binding ruling for
correct tax treatment on a particular matter
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> In addition to penalties, interest will be charged on
underpaid tax and late payment, which is payable from
a tax due date to an actual payment date. Taxpayer
is also entitled to interest on tax refund, which will be
calculated from the date the refund is determined until
the date the refund is made Amendment of commercial
tax regulations to allow input commercial tax incurred
on capital assets be offset against output commercial

tax due on business activities

> Penalties will be imposed on various noncompliance of

tax matters

November Stamp duty penalty reductions

2019 .
» Amendment of the amount of penalties imposed on

unpaid or underpaid stamp duties
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Extension of tax filing deadline

» An extension of the corporate income tax and commercial tax

payments for the second and the third quarters of 2020 to 30

September 2020, applicable to the prioritized sectors/industries:

>

>

Cut-Make-Pack businesses (e.g. CMP - garments and textiles)
Hotel and tourism businesses

The small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) as defined
below:

Manufacturing Capital investment (excluding land)
of not exceeding MMK 1 billion
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Types of business Indicators

Wholesale Previous-year annual income of not
exceeding MMK300 million

Retail Previous-year annual income of not
exceeding MMK 100 million

Services Previous-year annual income of not
exceeding MMK200 million
Others Previous-year annual income of not

exceeding MMK 100 million

Taxes and duty

>

2% advance corporate income tax shall be exempted on exported
goods until the end of the fiscal year 2020 (i.e., 30 September
2020) which is effective from 1 April 2020

Exemption of commercial tax and specific goods tax imposed on
the importation and distribution of medical supplies and products
related to the prevention, control, and treatment of COVID-19

Exemption of customs duties imposed on the importation and
distribution of medical supplies and products related to the
prevention, control, and treatment of COVID-19

Social security payment

>

Payment deadline of Social Security Contribution of employees
has been extended from “within 15 days after the end of relevant
month" to “within 3 months after the end of relevant month” with
effect from 20 March 2020.

Others: tax incentives

>
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» Entitlement to deduct from income as expenses to the amount
equivalent to 125% of incremental salaries and wages during the
income year 2020

> Entitlement to enjoy 10% of the capital assets acquired for
the additional investment during the income year 2020 as
non-refundable tax credit*

» Entitlement to enjoy 125% of tax depreciation on additional capital
assets during the income year 2020 as one-time depreciation

* Non-refundable tax credit can only be applied after offsetting the prior year's excess CIT
payments and the current year's advance CIT payments. Any excess CIT payment after
deducting 10% credit cannot be refunded nor offset against other tax payments. 10%
non-refundable credit is not applicable for acquisition of intangible property, purchase,
upgrade or expansion of land and/or buildings and investments that are covered by tax
and reinvestment exemptions or reliefs under the Myanmar Investment Law or Special

Economic Zones Law
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“Doing Business" 2020/2021 version

New investment and business expansion to Cambodia, Myanmar,
Vietnam and Indonesia have gained an increasing attention by Thai
investors in light of competitive labor cost, burgeoning consumer
base, and strategic locations. Yet, a navigation through unfamiliar
territories can be challenging.

Investors will need to stay abreast of constantly changing investment
climate, get yourself up to speed with current regulatory environment
and up-to-date incentives, and be aware of issues to enable your
company effectively manage overall tax risks.

As a starting point, to be well prepared for your outbound investment,
read our Doing Business booklet series.

manapluitign manaplunsia

Doing Business in
Cambodia

Doing Business in
Myanmar

2020/2021 2020/2021

mssapiludaaun - msaopiludulafids
Doing Business in Doing Business in
Vietnam Indonesia

2020/2021 2020/2021
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